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HWL BswoRTH

LAWYERS

Deed of settlement and release

Date

13 December 2022

Parties

Commonwealth of Australia (as represented by the Department of
Finance)

ABN 61 970 632 485 of One Canberra Avenue, FORREST, ACT, 2603
(Commonwealth)

Brittany Mae Higgins

C/- Blumers Personal Injury Lawyers, 12/15 London Circuit,
CANBERRA, ACT, 2601
(Ms Higgins)

Recitals

Deed of setllement and release
Confidential

A, Ms Higgins was employed by the Commonwealth under the
Members of Parliament (Staff) Act 1984 (Cth) (MOPS Act)
between 22 October 2018 and 12 February 2021
(Employment). Relevantly, she was employed by the following
relevant office-holders:

(a) between 22 October 2018 and 3 March 2019, to work
for the Hon Steven Ciobo MP;

(b) between 4 March 2019 and 5 June 20189, to work for
Senator the Hon Linda Reynolds; and

(c) between 6 June 2019 and 12 February 2021, to work for
Senator the Hon Michaelia Cash.

B. On 29 January 2021, Ms Higgins notified Senator Cash's office
of her intention to resign. Ms Higgins' resignation took effect
following a period of annual leave from 29 January 2021 to
12 February 2021 (Termination).

C. Ms Higgins alleges that on 22 March 2019, she was sexually
assaulted by Mr Bruce Lehrmann (Alleged Sexual Assault). At
this time, Mr Lehrmann was also employed by the
Commonwealth under the MOPS Act to work for Senator

Reynolds.
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Deed of selllement and release
Confidential

On 21 December 2021, Ms Higgins provided correspondence to
the Commonwealth, Senator Cash, Senator Reynolds, the
Secretary of Finance and the Secretary of the Attorney-
General's Department which identified the following potential
legal claims which may be available to her against the
Commonwealth, Mr Lehrmann, Senator Reynolds, Senator
Cash, the Commonwealth of Australia and the Liberal Party of
Australia in relation to the Alleged Sexual Assault and the
events which followed:

(a) contraventions of the Sex Discrimination Act 1984 (Cth)
(SDA);

(b) contraventions of the Fair Work Act 2009 (Cth)
(FW Act);

(c) contraventions of the Privacy Act 1988 (Cth);

(d) contraventions of the Work Health and Safety Act 2011
(Cth);

(e) a claim under the Safety, Rehabilitation and
Compensation Act 1988 (Cth) (SRC Act); and

(f) common law claims in negligence
(First Letter).

On 16 February 2022, Ms Higgins provided the Commonwealth
with a document titled ‘Draft Statement of Particulars' which
alleged the Commonwealth of Australia, the Hon Scott Morrison
MP, Senator Reynolds and Senator Cash were liable for the
following potential legal claims in relation to the Alleged Sexual
Assault and the events which followed:

(a) contraventions of the SDA; and/or

(b) contraventions of the FW Act

(Draft Particulars).

On 3 March 2022, Ms Higgins provided the Commonwealth with
a document titled 'Particulars of Liability' in relation to the
Alleged Sexual Assault and the events which followed. That

document:

(a) made claims against the Commonwealth including:
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Deed of settiement and release
Confidential

(b)

(c)

(i) contraventions of the SDA, including:

(A) sexual harassment pursuant to ss 28B
and 106;

(B) sex discrimination pursuant to s 14(2)
and 106; and

(C) victimisation within the meaning of s
47A; and

(i) contravention of the Disability Discrimination Act
1892 (Cth) (DDA), including disability
discrimination pursuant to s 15(2);

made claims against Senator Reynolds and Senator
Cash including:

(i) contraventions of the SDA, including:

(A) sex discrimination pursuant to s 14(2);
and

(B) victimisation within the meaning of s
47A;

(ii) contravention of the DDA, including disability
discrimination pursuant to s 15(2); and

(iii) common law claims in negligence; and

made claims against members of Senator Reynolds’
staff (including Ms Fiona Brown) and Senator Cash'’s
staff (including Mr Daniel Try and Ms Regina Camera),
who are employees of the Commonwealth under the
MOPS Act, including victimisation within the meaning of
s 47A of the SDA

(Draft Particulars of Liability).

On 7 December 2022, Ms Higgins provided the Commonwealth
with a document titled 'Draft Complaint to the Australian Human
Rights Commission’ in relation to the Alleged Sexual Assault
and the events which followed. That document:

(a)

made claims against the Commonwealth including:

(i) sexual harassment in contravention of ss 28B(2)
and/or 28B(6) and s 106 of the SDA;
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Without any admissions of liability, the parties have agreed to
resolve all Claims by Ms Higgins against the Beneficiaries
relating in any way to the Circumstances on the terms set out in
this deed and note that Ms Higgins does not intend to make a
claim for compensation under the SRC Act.

This deed witnesses that in consideration of, among other things, the mutual promises
contained in this deed the parties agree as follows: '

1. Definitions and interpretation clauses

1.1 Definitions

In this deed:

Agreed Statement means the following statement:

Alleged Sexual
Assault

Beneficiaries

Business Days

Circumstances

Deed of settlement and release
Confidential

“At a mediation held on 13 December 2022, the
Commonwealth and Ms Higgins settled her claims. At
the request of Ms Higgins, the parties have agreed
that the terms of the settlement are confidential."

has the meaning specified at Recital C

means:

(2) the Commonwealth of Australia and its current and
former officers, employees, contractors and agents,
but not including Mr Lehrmann;

(b) Senator Reynolds; and
(c) Senator Cash

For the avoidance of doubt, Beneficiaries does not include
any other current or former Senator or Member of the House

of Representatives.

means a day that is not a Séturday, Sunday or public holiday
in the Australian Capital Territory.

means the matters referred to in the Recitals, including:
(a) the Employment;
(b) the Termination;

(c) the Alleged Sexual Assault; and
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Personal has the same meaning as in the Privacy Act 1988 (Cth)
Information

Potential Legal has the meaning specified at Recital H

Claims

SDA

means the Sex Discrimination Act 1984 (Cth)

Settlement Sum  means the total of the amounts specified at clause 2.1

SRC Act means the Safety, Rehabilitation and Compensation Act
1988 (Cth).
SS Act means the Social Security Act 1991 (Cth)

Statutory Causes means the statutory causes of action potentially available to
of Action Ms Higgins under the Australian Human Rights Commission Act

1986 (Cth), the SDA, and the DDA

Termination has the meaning specified at Recital B

1.2 Interpretation

In this deed, unless a contrary intention is expressed:

(@)
(b)
(c)
(d)

(e)

()
(9)

(h)

)

Deed of settlement and release

Confidential

headings and italicised, highlighted or bold type do not affect interpretation;
the singular includes the plural and the plural includes the singular;

a gender includes all other genders;

other parts of speech and grammatical forms of a word or phrase defined in this
deed have a corresponding meaning;

a reference to a 'person’ includes any individual, firm, company, partnership,
joint venture, an unincorporated body or association, trust, corporation or other
body corporate and any government agency (whether or not having a separate

legal personality);
a reference to a party includes that party's successors and permitted assigns;

a provision of this deed may not be construed adversely to a party solely on the
ground that the party (or that party's representative) was responsible for the
preparation of this deed or the preparation or proposal of that provision;

a reference to any legislation or statutory instrument or regulation is construed
in accordance with the Acts Interpretation Act 1901 (Cth) or the equivalent State

legislation, as applicable;

if a period of time is specified and dates from a day or the day of an act, event
or circumstance, that period is to be determined exclusive of that day; and
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areference to '$' is a reference to the lawful currency of the Commonwealth of
Australia.

3 Settlement

21 Settlement Sum

211

(a)

(b)

(c)

()

(e)

2:1.2

Subject to Ms Higgins' satisfaction of clause 2.3, the Commonwealth must pay
to, or on behalf of, Ms Higgins as compensation in respect of the Statutory
Causes of Action:

$400,000 for hurt, distress and humiliation suffered by Ms Higgins arising from
alleged conduct occurring:

(i) during the Employment;
(ii) prior to the Termination; and
(i) in no way connected to the Termination;

$1,480,000 as a capital payment paid to Ms Higgins in respect of Ms Higgins'
loss of earning capacity;

$220,000 as reimbursement for medical and like expenses incurred by
Ms Higgins arising from the Alleged Sexual Assault and the events which
followed;

$100,000 for past and future domestic assistance; and

$245,000 as reimbursement of Ms Higgins' legal costs and disbursements
(Legal Costs).

For the avoidance of doubt, no part of the Settlement Sum is in respect of any
damages arising out of or in respect of any common law claim.

2.2 Payment of Settlement Sum

The Commonwealth must pay the Settlement Sum, less any deductions permitted by
this deed, by electronic funds transfer into the trust account of Blumers Personal Injury
Lawyers as follows:

"~ Bank: Maiuarie Bank Limited

Name: Blumers Lawyers Canberra Pty Limited Trust Account

Deed of settiement and release Page 8
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Pre-compliance documentation

Ms Higgins must provide, or facilitate the provision of, the following documentation to
the Commonwealth:

(a) invoices in respect of the Legal Costs; and

(b) all relevant notices from Medicare, pursuant to the HOSC Act, permitting the
payment of the Settlement Sum to Ms Higgins without giving rise to a liability for
the Commonwealth under that Act; and

(c) all relevant notices, if any, from Centrelink, pursuant to the SS Act, as to
whether any amount is repayable from the Settlement Sum under that Act; and

(d) a report from a qualified treating medical practitioner that Ms Higgins has legal
capacity to enter into this deed; and

(e) a copy of this deed properly executed by Ms Higgins.

Time for Compliance

The Commonwealth will comply with its obligations undér clause 2.2 within 15 Business
Days of the Commonwealth receiving all of the documentation set out at clause 2.3.

Deductions

3.1

3.2

Ms Higgins acknowledges that the Commonwealth may withhold from the Settlement
Sum, and pay to the relevant authority, amounts:

(a) in respect of taxation;
(b) that must be remitted to Medicare pursuant to the HOSC Act; and / or
(c) that must be remitted to Centrelink pursuant to the SS Act.

The Commonwealth makes no warranty that the taxation withheld from the Settlement
Sum represents the full extent of Ms Higgin's liability to pay taxation on the Settlement

Sum.

Releases etc

4.1

Ms Higgins releases the Beneficiaries, except for Senator Reynolds and Senator Cash,
from all Claims relating in any way to the Circumstances (Higgins First Release).

Page 9
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4.2 Ms Higgins releases Senator Reynolds and Senator Cash from all Claims relating in any
way to the Circumstances except for:
(a) any actions of Senator Reynolds or Senator Cash that do not relate to the
performance or non-performance of their ministerial duties; or
(b) fines or penalties.
(Higgins Second Release).
4.3 Ms Higgins indemnifies Senator Cash and Senator Reynolds from any Claims made by
Comcare:
(a) to which sections 50 and 51 of the SRC Act apply; and
(b) relating in any way to the Circumstances.
4.4 The Commonwealth releases Ms Higgins from all Claims relating in any way to the
Circumstances.
4.5 The Higgins First Release and the Higgins Second Release has effect as a deed poll
given by Ms Higgins in favour of the Beneficiaries.
5. Barto Proceedings
5.1 This deed may be pleaded by either party, or the Beneficiaries, as a bar to any Claims
relating in any way to the Circumstances.
i :
¢
5.2 Ms Higgins acknowledges that Beneficiaries (who are not party to this deed, but who
are released pursuant to clause 4.1) will be entitled to rely on this deed as a complete
bar to any Claims relating in any way to the Circumstances.
6. Confidentiality
6.1 Subject to clause 6.2, the parties agree that they will not disclose the terms of this deed
to any other person save for:
(a) the Agreed Statement;
(b) the fact that the parties welcome the fact of settlement (after the Agreed
Statement has been made public);
(c) the Commonwealth may inform the Beneficiaries about:
(i) the release contained in clauses 4.1, 4.2, 4.3 and 4.5; and
(i) the bar to proceedings contained in clauses 5.1 and 5.2;
including definitions relevant to those clauses.
Deed of settlement and release Page 10
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6.2 A party may disclose the terms of this deed:

(@
(b)

(9)
(d)
(e)

if required by law;

to a professional adviser, financial adviser, legal adviser or auditor provided that
this person has provided an undertaking to keep confidential the existence and
terms of this deed prior to such disclosure;

to the Australian Taxation Office;
with the express written consent of the other party;

for the purpose of any party or Beneficiary enforcing this deed.

s Warranties

'7.1 Ms Higgins warrants that:

(a)
(b)
()
(@)

(e)

®

()

()

(M

()

the matters referred to in this deed are true and correct;
she has entered into this deed voluntarily;
she has the legal capacity to enter into this deed;

the Commonwealth has not made any promise, representation or inducement,
or been party to any such conduct, in return for Ms Higgins entering into this
deed other than as set out in this deed;

she has had the full opportunity to consult with her legal advisors as to the
nature and effect of this deed;

she has not commenced any Claim against the Beneficiaries other than those
identified in this deed;

she has not made any claim for a compensation affected payment in relation to
a day or days in the periodic payments period or the lump sum preclusion
period within the meaning of section 1182(1)(b) of the SS Act;

she has not received any compensation affected payment in relation to a day or
days in the periodic payments period or the lump sum preclusion period within
the meaning of section 1184(1)(b) of the SS Act;

each warranty above is a separate representation and warranty, and that she
has made the representations and given the warranties with the intention of
inducing the Commonwealth to enter into this deed; and

she is aware that the Commonwealth is relying on these warranties.

Page 11
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10.5

10.6

10.7

Deed of settlement and release
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Variation

This deed cannot be amended or varied except in writing signed by the parties.

Costs

Each party must pay its own costs of (including legal costs) and expenses in connection
with the negotiation, preparation, execution and delivery of this deed.

Mediation

In the event of any dispute arising from or in connection with the terms of this deed, the
parties agree that the dispute will be referred to mediation conducted by Rebecca

Curran or her nominee.

Governing law

This deed is governed by the laws of, and each party submits to the non-exclusive
jurisdiction of, the Australian Capital Territory.

Page 13
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Executed as a deed

Signed, sealed and delivered by Brittany
Mae Higgins in the presence of:

|

Signature of witness Signature of Brittany Mae Higgins
Llon 2d4[c R Y V2« Td-
Full name of witness (print) Date

2! /‘}‘)ﬁ ColLra) J7. ﬁﬁ(wu/é‘.

Address of witness (print)

Signed, sealed and delivered on behalf of
the Commonwealth of Australia (as
represented by the Department of
Finance) by an authorised representative in
the presence of:

KL

Signathre of witness ignature of Authorised Representative
—\Lealf_ ’n\ows Yy (R I3 DECEMBER 2022
Full name of witness (print) Date

6 MNeanonal ¢ Bavion

Address of witness (print) ACT

Deed of selllement and release Page 14
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Blumers s

Lawyers

Contact: ~ Noor Blumer
Direct Line: 0417 753 150
Email Address: noor@blumers.com.au
Our Reference: NXB:SJD:212285

21 December 2021

STRICTLY CONFIDENTIAL
Secretary of Finance
Rosemary Huxtable

By email only: rosemary.huxtable@finance.gov.au

Dear Ms Huxtable
RE: BRITTANY MAE HIGGINS

We act for Brittany Mae Higgins who suffered various injuries during her
employment and while working at Parliament House. Ms Higgins’ injuries
include serious psychiatric injury, which is ongoing and other loss
including past and future economic loss.

Ms Higgins’ injuries were caused by a combination of the now
widely-publicised sexual assault by a co-worker that occurred on
23 March 2019 and the manner in which her co-workers, supervisors and
others responded in the immediate days and then months following the
sexual assault. Ms Higgins’ injuries have been exacerbated after the
sexual assault became public, by the actions and the public statements
made by senior members of the Australian Government, notwithstanding
that Ms Higgins’ unusually brave and universally acclaimed decision to
speak out about her experience has had enocrmous public benefit.

As you will be aware the sexual assault is now the subject of criminal
proceedings.

Ms Higgins’ claims include, but are not limited to, the following:

a. contraventions of the Sex Discrimination Act 1984 (Cth) with
respect to sex discrimination, sexual harassment and
victimisation. The Commonwealth is also vicariously liable for the
unlawful conduct of its employees and agents who engaged in the
contraventions or by permitting the conduct to occur;

Level 12, 15 London Circuit BLUMERS Lawyers T 026208 2600
GPO Box 519 Canberra 2601 Canberra

DX 5737 Canberra ABN 96 611704 075 blumers.com.au

We acknowledge the indigenous communities and their eiders who are the traditional

custodians of the land on which we live and work.






Please contact Noor Blumer on 0417 753 150 or by email as soon as
possible.

Yours faithfully
BLUMERS Personal Injury Lawyers

CC. Senator Cash senator.cash@aph.gov.au

Senator Reynolds senator.reynolds@aph.gov.au

Secretary of Finance rosemary.huxtable@finance.gov.au
Secretary of Attorney-General’s Department

katherine.jones@ag.gov.au




FORM

AUSTRALIAN CAPITAL TERRITORY

DRAFT STATEMENT OF PARTICULARS

Brittany Mae Higgins
Claimant

and

Commonwealth of Australia
Prime Minister Scott Morrison
Senator Michaelia Cash
Senator Linda Reynolds
Respondents

1.1 The claimant was born on Z’m 208

1.2 On 23 March 2019, the
assaulted at her rkp

1.3 The claimant feported:

i)
iEWork:Act 200 ;g;gs_Cth) arising out their response to that

S gy o,
tllmlteaT S

(R

inuing to work at the workplace following the assault;

imisation, including ostracism and being pressured not to discuss
the assault or the respondents’ handling of it;

1.3:5 workplace bullying and harassment

1.3.6  public statements made by senior members of the Australian
Government about the claimant and about the assault; and

Filed on behalf of the claimant by:

BLUMERS Personal Injury Lawyers DX 5737 CANBERRA
Level 12 TEL 02 6208 2600
15 London Circuit FAX 02 6208 2626

CANBERRA ACT 2601 REF: NXB:KMT:NXB:212285



1.3.7 the disclosure of the claimant’s personal information to third parties
without her consent.

1.4  The claimant is now aged 28.

2. PARTICULARS OF INJURIES
2.1 Sexual assault and associated physical injuries;

2.2  Severe psychiatric injuries.




4. PARTICULARS OF ECONOMIC LOSS'

Particulars of employmeﬁ;j, :

4.1 The claimant was employedipy thetHopourableiSteven Ciobo MP, Minister

work albeit under treatment and a great deal of stress. On 24 June 2019 the

claimant ceased working for the Honourable Senator Linda Reynolds.

4.5 On 6 June 2019 the claimant commenced employment with the Honourable
Senator Michaelia Cash as an Executive Assistant/Office Manager.

4.6 The claimant, by reason of her injuries and disabilities was unable to continue

in her employment and resigned on about 8 February 2021.



4.7 At the time the claimant ceased employment she was earning a salary of
$77,926.00 gross per annum plus superannuation. That is a nett income of

$1,163.58 nett per week plus superannuation.
48 On 5 August 2021 the Commonwealth Members of Parliament Staff

Enterpr{se Agreement 2020-23 (the new Enterprise Agreement)
commenced and upon that commencement the claimant’s salary would have
increased to $79,251 gross per annum plus superannuation, had she been
able to continue in her employment. That is a nett ﬁ@ame of $1,180.00 per
week plus superannuation. o

4.9  Further, in accordance with the new Entergné‘e Aﬁ@gment the claimant's
salary would have increased by 1.70% o%@PI at 12 ané"ﬁ )
the commencement of the new Enterpjggﬁ’Agreement

4.10 Apart from 1 day, the claimant has nbm ked si

Particulars of past econo@j% _

4.11 The claimant makes a clalmL p‘aﬁ@ﬁiff ea‘f:zgig%s on the basis of loss of
income at $1, 163 ! Qett per vf@g fo[; ? 6 QFebruary 2021 to 5 August
perlod G’August 2021 to 28 February

: eﬁ’” o I, week wg

*%*\.‘3

.A_;he EEST loss of superannuation consequent

| ' ”’"’ 4% of bess' eekly income, being $230.78 per week for
__\ruar? y:2021 to 5 August 2021 and $234.70 per week for the

'3{-? e

ebruary 2022.
283 ebruary

412

From 6 AugUst 2021 to 28 February 2022 (29 weeks) the claimant claims
$1,180.00 nett per week ($34,220.00) plus 15.4% superannuation
($6,806.30). As such, the amount claimed $41,026.30 for this period.

4.15 The claimant claims for past economic loss in the sum of $80,068.38.



4.16
4.17

4.18
4.19

4.20

4.21
4.22

4.23

4.24

Particulars of future economic loss

The claimant makes a claim for future economic loss.

The claimant was successful and progressing in her career. The claimant had
a reasonable expectation of being promoted regularly and to eventually
pursue her own political career, before suffering from the injuries and
disabilities.

The claimant expected to continue in employment until the age of 67 years.

February 2021, save for 1 day. | _
The claimant has been diagnosed as m%%

G

employment, and has been given ggfmy poor p

3

employment. .5,3;. :
s, as f%&pﬁls:

The claimant claims future economi 'r_-‘
For the period 1 March 2022 to 4 August: 5 weeks

22 weeks superannuation X :
Total: '

alary(pw x 1,224.2
40years) = $1,466,831.20
-gé‘?w?:

annuation  x  1,244.2

2y for'40 years) = $ 296.990.54
$1,789,781.70
Less 15% for vicissitudes = $1,521,314.40

The claimant further claims for the likelihood that she would have succeeded
in either progressing in the public service, politics or in the private sector and
would have been remunerated at increasing rates. If the matter proceeds, the
claimant will obtain a forensic accounting report but anticipates that this part of



4.25

5.2

the claim for future economic loss will be in the order of at least an additional

$1,000,000.
The claimant claims total future economic loss in the sum of $2,521,314.40.

PARTICULARS OF GENERAL & AGGRAVATED DAMAGES
The claimant claims compensation for hurt, distress and humiliation in the

sum of $300,000.
The claimant’s hurt, distress and humiliation has bee@gﬁacerbated as a result

of the manner in which the individual respondengﬁf ehaved at the time of the
n?afgeir as well as a result

assault and during the subsequent handllng
of the toxic and harmful culture and wogﬁgnwonment thg ;he claimant was
subjected to by the respondents. ;gﬁ%v v N

The claimant claims the sum of $1 00;%% for ag .

e out of pocket expenses

ant clag or future treatment expenses.

The clal‘:"_- 'ﬁ};’reqwre fortnightly psychiatric appointments at a cost of $285
each for 12 months and every 2 months for 5 years and then twice yearly for

the remainder of her life. The current cost per session is $285. The

calculations are as follows:

$285 per session x 26 weeks = $7,410
$285 per session x 6 sessions = $1,710 per annum = $32.88 pw x 242.6 (3%

multiplier for 5 years) = $7,976



$285 per session x 2 sessions = $570 per annum = $10.96 pw x 1396.8 (3%
multiplier for 53 years) = $15,309
Total: $30,695.
6.7 The claimant will require private clinic hospitalisation from time to time and a
buffer of $20,000 is claimed.
6.8 The claimant will require ongoing GP appointments 6 times a year, costing
about $600 equivalent to about $11.54 per week.
6.9  $11.54 pw x 1,447.4 (3% multiplier for 58 years) = $1
6.10 There will also be the costs of travel to and from;

£

1703.00
_élppointments estimated

at about $10 per week.

6.11 $14,47%§§@
6.12 i i of pocket expens%?’}m the sum of
‘-). T ‘.:;?;?::
‘1‘%&
7 R CLAIM
ince clal
i

2 .:_; .’1 R @v}x
% ?ﬁ% nce pursuant to Griffiths v
ol

7.5 [ , by reason of her injuries and disabilities, has a very poor
prognosis. She continues to require significant assistance from her family to
perform domestic tasks and it is uncertain at what point this requirement will
subside, if at all.

7.6  The claimant claims for future domestic assistance by way of a buffer in the
sum of $200,000.



And the claimant claims damages, costs and interest pursuant to the Court

Procedures Rules 2006.

Annexure to Statement of Particulars (Rule 1304(4))

1 Schedule of out of pockets and travel to 15 February 2022;

2, ATO notices of assessment for the following financial years:
2019
2020

Dated this 16" day of February 2022

Noor Blumer
Blumers Personal Injury Lawy
Solicitors for the Claimant



WITHOUT PREJUDICE
PARTICULARS OF LIABILITY

PARTICULARS OF LIABILITY

Brittany Mae Higgins

and

Claimant

Commonwealth of Australia

Senator Michaelia Cash

Senator Linda Reynolds

12

1.3

14

1.5

1.6
14

Respondents

EMPLOYMENT BY MINISTER REYNOLDS

On about 1 March 2019, the claimant was employed by the Honourable
Senator Linda Reynolds, on behalf of the Commonwealth, under the Members
of Parliament (Staff) Act 1984 (Cth) (MOPS Act).

Mr Bruce Lehrmann was also employed by Minister Reynolds, on behalf of the
Commonwealth, under the MOPS Act.

On 2 March 2019, Senator Reynolds commenced as Minister for Defence
Industry and as a member of Cabinet.

The claimant’s role was media adviser. It was a junior role. She was the only
Canberra-based female member of Minister Reynold’s staff.

Mr Lehrmann’s role was as senior advisor. It was a senior role. He was in a
higher ranking role to the claimant.

Both the claimant and Mr Lehrmann worked at Parliament House.

In the week commencing March 2019, a new interim Chief of Staff, Ms Fiona
Brown, employed by Minister Reynolds, on behalf of the Commonwealth,

under the MOPS Act also commenced work in Minister Reynolds’ office.

Filed on behalf of the claimant by:
BLUMERS Personal Injury Lawyers DX 5737 CANBERRA

Level 12

TEL 02 6208 2600

15 London Circuit FAX 02 6208 2626
CANBERRA ACT 2601 REF:NXB:KMT:212285



2.2

2.3

24

2.5
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SEXUAL ASSAULT
On the evening of 22 March 2019, Mr Lehrmann, the claimant and some other

colleagues went out for drinks after work.

Mr Lehrmann bought numerous rounds of drinks and the claimant became
heavily and patently intoxicated. It was not noticed by the claimant that Mr
Lehrmann himself was not drinking.

As a result of her intoxication, the claimant became unsteady on her feet and
fell over. Mr Lehrmann assisted her to get up. The claimant decided that she
needed to go home and Mr Lehrmann walked the claimant to a taxi.

Without invitation or agreement with the claimant, Mr Lehrmann also got into
the taxi and stated that they could share the taxi ride home as he lived in the
same direction as the claimant.

Without invitation or agreement with the claimant, Mr Lehrman then directed
the taxi to stop at Parliament House alleging that he wanted to retrieve
something from his office.

However, on arrival at Parliament House, without advising or obtaining the
agreement of the claimant, Mr Lehrmann paid the taxi fare and then directed
the claimant to get out of the taxi and go with him into Parliament House.

Mr Lehrmann and the claimant entered Parliament House via the Ministerial
entrance. Mr Lehrman instructed the claimant to be quiet. They proceeded to
the security checkpoint where they were met by two security guards.

Mr Lehrmann had his staff pass which allowed him to entér the building. The
claimant did not have her staff pass with her and had to be signed in via a
guest sign in book. She was unsteady on her feet and had difficulty remaining
upright and signing her name. She was visibly affected by alcohol.

Mr Lehrmann led the claimant to the Ministerial Suite of Minister Reynolds.
Inside Minister Reynolds’ office, Mr Lehrmann looked for something. The
claimant sat on window ledge overlooking the Prime Minister's courtyard,
feeling very ‘out of it'.

The claimant was then either taken over to the couch by Mr Lehrmann or went

there herself and lost consciousness.
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The claimant later awoke by the feeling of pain from her leg being crushed.
She realised she was on the couch and that Mr Lehrmann was on top of her
having sexual intercourse with her and pinning her leg down with his knee.
The claimant had not consented to sexual intercourse with Mr Lehrmann.

The claimant began crying and told Mr Lehrmann to stop at least half a dozen
times but he did not stop. The claimant could not move from under him due to
his knee pinning down her leg.

Mr Lehrmann then finished a few minutes later. He got up without speaking to
the claimant and then left Minister Reynolds’ office.

The claimant was unable to get up and passed out again.

A security guard entered Minister Reynolds’ office after the sexual assault had
taken place and Mr Lehrmann had departed. The security guard saw the
claimant passed out on the couch with her clothing mostly pulled up or off but
did not render any assistance to her.

A while later, another security guard entered Minister Reynolds’ office and
yelled out something to the effect of ‘Is everyone okay in there?'. They awoke
the claimant but the security guard left without rendering assistance to her.
The claimant eventually managed to exit Minister Reynolds’ office at about
9am the following morning. She saw two security guards at the Ministerial
entrance to Parliament House on the way out but they did not speak to her or
render her any assistance.

The movements of Mr Lehrmann and the claimant at Parliament House on 23
March 2019 were recorded by CCTV security cameras in and throughout
Parliament House (other than when they were inside Minister Reynolds’
office).

HANDLING OF SEXUAL ASSAULT BY MINISTER REYNOLDS’ OFFICE

On Monday 25 March 2019, the claimant attended work at Parliament House,
as did Mr Lehrmann. They did not communicate. No one spoke to the
claimant about the events of the previous Saturday. ‘

On Tuesday 26 March 2019, Ms Brown informed Mr Lehrmann and the

claimant that she needed to speak to each of them in her office.
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Ms Brown first spoke to Mr Lehrmann. After about 45 minutes Mr Lehrmann
emerged from Ms Brown'’s office and proceeded to pack his belongings and
leave Parliament House.

Ms Brown then spoke to the claimant. The claimant understood from Ms
Brown that she wanted to discuss the events of 22/23 March 2019. The
claimant recounted to Ms Brown her recollection of the events, including that
Mr Lehrmann had sexually assaulted her.

Ms Brown confirmed that the CCTV footage demonstrated the claimant to
have been visibly drunk when coming through the entrance to the Ministerial
wing of Parliament House and that Mr Lehrmann had said that he not been
drinking that evening.

The claimant broke down. Ms Brown informed her that Mr Lehrmann had
been dismissed and would not be returning. Ms Brown instructed the claimant
to take the rest of the day off and gave her a brochure for the Employee
Assistance Program.

Ms Brown did not ask the claimant if she needed (nor did she offer to provide)
any further medical or trauma counselling. i

Ms Brown did not ask the claimant if she wanted to report the sexual assault
to the Police. She did not advise the claimant that she would be initiating an
investigation and Ms Brown did not ask the claimant if she needed (nor did
she offer to provide) legal advice about the events.

During the week following the sexual assault, Mr Yaron Finklestein, Principal
Secretary to the Prime Minister, was a regular presence in Minister Reynolds’
office advising Ms Brown on how to deal with the claimant in light of the
sexual assault by Mr Lehrmann. However, Mr Finklestein did not seek the
claimant’s views about what remedies or outcomes she wanted.

Later that week Ms Brown asked the claimant if she had contacted the
Employee Assistance Program. The claimant advised that she had called the
number and been informed that there was a two-month wait period to speak to
a psychologist.

Ms Brown did not arrange for any alternative counselling service to be

provided to the claimant.
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On 11 April 2019 a Federal election was called.

At or about that time, the claimant raised with Ms Brown the issue of sick
leave for her mental health and also needing time off work to assist the AFP in
its investigation. Ms Brown demonstrated an unwillingness to discuss the
issue and made it clear to the claimant that it was her problem to deal with.

Ms Brown informed the claimant that she had two options. She could return
home to the Gold Coast on paid leave for the duration of the election
campaign, but this would negatively impact her prospects of having a job to
reapply for after the election. Alternatively, the claimant could “stay onboard”
Minister Reynolds’ team and work on the election campaign in Western
Australia.

Ms Brown made it clear by her words and demeanour that the events of 22/23
March 2019 must be put to one side; that the claimant ought remain silent
about the sexual assault, in order to keep her job/career.

The claimant was fearful of losing her career and elected to go to Western
Australia to assist with Minister Reynolds’ election campaign. In that context
the claimant felt she had no choice but to abandon pursuit of the complaint of
sexual assault with the AFP.

On 13 April 2019, the claimant informed the Belconnen AFP Sexual Assauit
Crimes Unit that she no longer wished to pursue the complaint of sexual
assault in light of her work demands.

The claimant went to Western Australia to work on Minister Reynolds’ election
campaign. She was required to work mostly on her own in a hotel room,
7 days a week for 6 weeks. Her mental health deteriorated.

Minister Reynolds did not engage with the claimant at all during the election
campaign. She avoided the claimant and made clear that she did not want
the claimant attending events with her. Minister Reynolds did not enquire how

the claimant was, or if the claimant was receiving counselling or any other

support.
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While the claimant remained silent about the sexual assault, it became
apparent that knowledge of the incident had spread well beyond Minister
Reynolds, Ms Brown, Minister Cash and Mr Try without the claimant's
knowledge or consent. This was because various staff in Parliament House
broached the topic with the claimant from time to time, indicating to her that
they were aware of the details of the sexual assault. This was extremely
distressing for the claimant.

The claimant experienced ongoing difficulty, including panic, when entering
her workplace through the Ministerial entrance at Parliament House, where Mr
Lehrmann and she had entered on the night she was sexually assaulted.

The claimant informed Minister Cash about her ongoing difficulty in entering
the workplace through the Ministerial entrance. Minister Cash indicated to the
claimant that, in effect, she had to ‘suck it up’.

Minister Cash did not enquire if the claimant was receiving medical,
counselling or other psychological support to assist her in overcoming the
trauma, nor did Minister Cash offer to arrange any such assistance for the
claimant.

The claimant’'s mental health continued to worsen.

On 5 February 2021 the claimant resigned from her employment in Minister
Cash'’s office, because of the ongoing effects of thé trauma from the sexual
assault, the embarrassment and humiliation that she felt when confronted by
other staff members about the sexual assault, the flashbacks and anxiety she
experienced when entering the building through the Ministerial entrance and
the distress of being forced to remain silent about the events. The claimant

was told to ‘fake a week’ and the resignation was not ultimately processed

-until 12 February 2021.

On 24 February 2021 the claimant formally renewed her complaint of sexual
assault with the AFP. Mr Lehrmann has since been charged with sexual

assault and the criminal trial is due commence on 6 June 2022.
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For these purposes, the circumstances that are the same or are not materially
different include:

6.2.1 being a junior work colleague; and

6.2.2 being heavily and patently intoxicated.
This amounted to a contravention of s 14(2) of the SDA by subjecting the
claimant to a detriment, namely sexual assault and sexual harassment.
Further, by reason of the matters set out in Parts 1, 3 and 4 above, the
Commonwealth, Minister Reynolds and Minister Cash engaged in unlawful
direct discrimination within the meaning of s 5(1) of the SDA in that by reason
of the claimant being a woman, she was treated less favourably than a man
would have been treated in circumstances that are the same or are not

materially different.
This amounted to a contravention of s 14(2)(a), (b) and/or (d) of the SDA in
that:
6.5.1 failing to conduct a detailed investigation into the sexual assauilt;
6.5.2 failing to ask the claimant if she needed (or offering to source) legal
assistance or advice about dealing with the AFP in their
investigation or ébout seeking redress;
6.5.3 failing to arrange for any medical, trauma counselling or other
assistance for the claimant;
6.5.4 giving her the ultimatum in paragraph 3.23 and 3.24 above;
6.5.5 being dismissive of and requiring the claimant to work despite her
deteriorating mental health;
6.5.6 isolating the claimant as set out in paragraph 3.27;
6.5.7 ostracising the claimant as set out in paragraph 3.28
6.5.8 transfer to Minister Cash;
6.5.9 requiring the claimant to suppress interaction with the media and
stay silent about the sexual assault as set out in paragraph 4.8;
6.5.10failing to keep the sexual assault confidential and thereby
subjecting the claimant to gossip;
6.5.11 requiring the claimant to enter her workplace through the
Ministerial entrance at Parliament House despite this inducing

flashbacks,
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Further, or in the alternative, this conduct amounted to a contravention of
s 14(2)(c) of the SDA in that, in the circumstances set out above, the
claimant's continuing employment was untenable and her resignation was a

constructive dismissal.

LIABILITY FOR DISABILITY DISCRIMINATION
At all material times after the sexual assault, the claimant suffered from a
disability being the psychological effects associated with the sexual assault,
anxiety, depression and/or PTSD.
By reason of the matters set out in Parts 1, 3 and 4 above, the
Commonwealth, Minister Reynolds and Minister Cash engaged in unlawful
indirect discrimination within the meaning of s 6(2) of the Disability
Discrimination Act, 1992 (DDA) in that:
7.2.1 the conditions or requirements placed on the claimant included
continuing to work after the sexual assault as normal;
7.2.2 because of the claimant's disability would have been able to comply
if reasonable adjustments had been made but the respondents did
not make those reasonable adjustments, being:
7.2.2.1 conducting a detailed investigation into the sexual assault;
7.2.2.2 asking the claimant if she needed (and/or offering to
source) legal assistance or advice about dealing with the
AFP in their investigation or about seeking redress;
7.2.2.3 arranging for any medical, trauma counselling or other
assistance for the claimant; _
7.2.2.4 not giving the claimant the ultimatum in paragraph 3.23
and 3.24 above and instead- granting her request to take
sick leave to deal with her deteriorating mental health;
7.2.2.5 being compassionate and flexible in the face of the
claimant’s deteriorating mental health;
7.2.2.6 ensuring that the claimant was not isolated as set out in
paragraph 3.27 and instead provided with collegiality and
support;
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7.2.2.7 ensuring that the claimant was not ostracised as set out in
paragraph 3.28 and instead was fully part of the election
campaign;
7.2.2.8 not directing or requiring the claimant to suppress
interaction with the media and stay silent about the sexual
assault as set out in paragraph 4.8;
7229 enSuring that all aspects of the sexual assault was kept
confidential;
7.2.2.10 not requiring the claimant to enter her workplace through
the Ministerial entrance at Parliament House because t
induced flashbacks; and
7.2.3 the failure to make the reasonable adjustments had or was likely to
have the effect of disadvantaging requirement persons with the
disability
This amounted to a contravention of s 15(2)(a), (b) and/or (d) of the DDA.
Further, or in the alternative, this conduct amounted to a contravention of
s 15(2)(c) of the DDA in that, in the circumstances set out above, the

claimant's continuing employment was untenable and her resignation was a

constructive dismissal.

LIABILITY FOR VICTIMISATION _
By reason of the matters set out in paragfaphs 3.4, 3.13, 4.6 and Parts 5 and
6 above, the claimant made an allegation that a person, Mr Lehrmann, had
done an act that is unlawful by reason of a provision of Part Il of the SDA.
On the ground set out in paragraph 7. 1 above, Minister Reynolds and
members of Minister Reynolds’ staff (including Ms Brown) committed acts of
unlawful victimisation against the claimant within the meaning of s 47A of the
SDA by subjecting, or threatening to subject, the claimant to detriments set
out in Part 3 above, namely:

8.2.1 failing to initiate any, or any proper, investigation into the sexual

assault of the claimant by Mr Lehrmann;
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failing to offer and/or arrange any medical, trauma or rape
counselling or psychological assistance in respect of the sexual
assault;

failing to offer and/or arrange assistance for the claimant in relation
to the sexual assault including but not limited to legal assistance for
the police investigation and advice as to remedies;

fail'ing to support or facilitate the applicant pursuing a complaint of
sexual assault with the AFP;

pressuring the claimant to remain silent about the sexual assault in
order to keep her job;

subjecting the claimant to repeated ‘check ins’ to confirm that she
had not spoken to the media;

disclosing details of the sexual assault to other staff in Parliament
House without the claimant’s consent;

requiring the claimant to continue entering the workplace through
the Ministerial entrance despite her ongoing difficulty, including
panic, in doing so and failing to arrange any medical, counselling or

other support to assist with overcoming the anxiety.

8.4 In addition, the Commonwealth is vicariously liable at common law for the acts

of victimisation set out in paragraphs 7. 2 and 7. 3 above in that:

8.4.1

8.4.2

each of Ministers Reynolds and Cash were agents of the
Commonwealth and had ostensible authority to engage in the acts
outlined in those paragraphs; |

the members of staff of each of Ministers Reynolds and Cash
(including Ms Brown, Mr Try, and Ms Camera) were employees of
the Commonwealth and engaged in the acts outlined in those

paragraphs in the course of their employment.
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LIABILITY FOR NEGLIGENCE _

By reason of the matters set out in Part 1 above, Ministers Reynolds and
Cash, as the persons responsible under s 20 of the MOPS Act for employing
the claimant on behalf of the Commonwealth in their respective offices, were
at all relevant times under a duty to the claimant to take reasonable care to
avoid exposing her to the risk of sustaining a recognisable psychiatric injury
(or its exacerbation) that was reasonably foreseeable in all the circumstances,
in the sense that the risk was not far-fetched or fanciful.

By reason of the matters set out in Part 2 and paragraphs 3. 4, 3. 13 and 4. 6
above, that duty was enlivened as a result of the claimant’s being sexually
assaulted in the workplace by a colleague and those circumstances being
brought to the attention of each of Ministers Reynolds and Cash.

The content of the duty required each of Ministers Reynolds and Cash to
prevent the claimant from suffering psychiatric injury (or its exacerbation) by
taking such steps as were reasonably able to be taken in the circumstances,

~ including but not limited to:

9.3.1 developing and implementing an appropriate policy for receiving
and appropriately handling and investigating complaints of sexual
assault, sexual harassment and discrimination from staff within their
offices; :

9.3.2 educating supervisors within their offices to develop and exercise
the necessary skills to appropriately manage complaints of sexual
assault, sexual harassment and discrimination including by
maintaining confidentiality;

9.3.3 arranging access to, and encouraging the claimant to access,
medical, counselling, police or other legal assistance to support the
claimant to recover from the sexual assault, and

9.3.4 changing the claimant’s working conditions so as to avoid or reduce
the stressors affecting or retraumatising her such as:

9.3.4.1 working in isolation;

9.34.2 attending meetings in the location where the sexual assault
occurred;

9.3.4.3 using the Ministerial entrance to enter the workplace.
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9.4 For the reasons set out in Parts 3 and 4 above, both Ministers Reynolds and
Cash fell short of this standard and thereby breached the duty of care they

owed to the claimant.

10. LOSS AND DAMAGE
10.1 The injuries and disabilities, and consequent loss and damage, particularised

in the Statement of Particulars dated 16 February 2022 were caused by the

cumulative effect of:
10.1.1.1 the unlawful sexual harassment, sex discrimination and

victimisation under the SDA;
10.1.1.2 The unlawful disability discrimination; and/or
10.1.1.3 the breaches of the duty of care.

Dated this 3rd day of March 2022
Nooraini Blumer

Blumers Personal Injury Lawyers
Solicitors for the Plaintiff
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ATTACHMENT 2 — EVENTS COMPLAINED ABOUT

1. PARTIES

1.1 The Claimant was employed by the Commonwealth of Australia (First
Respondent) between about 1 March 2019 and 5,february 2021.

1.2 At all matenal times, the Commonwealth o alla (Commonwealth) was

3, 4 and 5 below:

1.2.1  Mr Bruce Lehrmann;

1.3

|n|ster for Defence Industry,
d North Queensland Recovery and a

1.4 ator Michaelia Clare Cash (the Third Respondent) was

al Party and a Senator for Western Australia. As at March

Skills and Vocational Education. Following the Federal Election in May 2019,
Senator Reynolds was appointed as Minister of Employment, Skills, Small and
Family Business. In October 2022, Senator Cash was appointed as Deputy
Leader of the government in the Senate and in March 2021, Senator Cash was
appointed as Attorney-General and Minister for Industrial Relations.
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2.2

2.3

24

2.5

2.6

34

3.5

BACKGROUND

On or about 1 March 2019, the Claimant was employed by Senator Reynolds
on behalf of the Commonwealth pursuant to the Members of Parliament (Staff)

Act 1984 (Cth) (MOPS Act).

Mr Lehrmann was also employed by Senator Reynolds, on behalf of the

Commonwealth, under the MOPS Act.
On 2 March 2019, Senator Reynolds commeng: d as Minister for Defence

Industry and as a member of Cabinet.

higher ranking role to the Claiman

Both the Claimant and

fell over. Mr Lehirmann assnsted her to get up. The Claimant decided that she
needed to go home and Mr Lehrmann walked the Claimant to a taxi.

Without invitation or agreement with the Claimant, Mr Lehrmann also got into
the taxi and stated that they could share the taxi ride home as he lived in the
same direction as the Claimant.

Without invitation or agreement from the Claimant, Mr Lehrman then directed
the taxi to stop at Parliament House alleging that he wanted to refrieve
something from his office.
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3.6 However, on arrival at Parliament House, without advising or obtaining the
agreement of the Claimant, Mr Lehrmann paid the taxi fare and then directed
the Claimant to get out of the taxi and go with him into Parliament House.

3.7 Mr Lehrmann and the Claimant entered Parliament House via the Ministerial
entrance. Mr Lehrman instructed the Claimant to be quiet. They proceeded to
the security checkpoint where they were met by two security guards.

3.8 At the security checkpoint, Mr Lehrmann and the Claimant had to sign-in to
enter the building. The Claimant was visibly a “_‘ by alcohol. Mr Lehrmann
signed on his own behalf and also on behal e Claimant.

3.9
3.10

er Iég being crushed. She

L&hrmannivas on top of her having
er Ieé%n with his knee.

3.13 The Claimant nse any sexual advance or sexual intercourse

3.16 The Claimant -‘ tnable to get up and passed out again.

3.17 A security guard entered Senator Reynolds’ office after the sexual assault had
taken place and Mr Lehrmann had departed. The security guard saw the
Claimant passed out on the couch with her clothing mostly pulled up or off but
did not render any assistance to her.
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3.18 A while later, another security guard entered Senator Reynolds’ office and
yelled out something to the effect of ‘Is everyone okay in there?’. The security
guard then woke the Claimant but left without rendering any assistance to her.

3.19 The Claimant e\}entually managed to exit Senator Reynolds’ Suite at about 9am
the following morning. She saw two security guards at the Ministerial entrance
to Parliament House on the way out but they did not speak to her or render her

any assistance.

3.20 The movements of Mr Lehrnﬁann and the Clai Né '1t Parliament House on 23

3.21 After the Claimant left Parliament :‘»,". ﬂ""“ 5 guards and/or other
arl . *?(@[%another arm of the

nolds’ Mi §ter|al Sunt&gihe_‘reby removing
or destroying evidence of, he sexual assault. 4 ’ - 4 A

29
6 550
"' x{‘:' v

4.  HANDLING OF SEXUAL A%i% %‘QY SENAT
S

TR
Lo

;,Marc‘2019 M"- own informed Mr Lehrmann and the
' 1 ak to'each of them in her office.

Mr Lehrﬁ%’b After about 45 minutes Mr Lehrmann

Lehrmann had sexually assaulted her.

4.5 Ms Brown confirmed that the CCTV footage demonstrated the Claimant to have
been visibly drunk when coming through the entrance to the Ministerial wing of
Parliament House and that Mr Lehrmann had said that he not been drinking

that evening.

4.6 The Claimant broke down. Ms Brown informed her that Mr Lehrmann had been
dismissed and would not be returning. Ms Brown instructed the Claimant to take
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the rest of the day off and gave her a brochure for the Employee Assistance
Program.

4.7 Ms Brown did not ask the Claimant if she needed (nor did she offer to provide)
any further medical assistance or trauma counselling.

4.8 Ms Brown did not ask the Claimant if she wanted to report the sexual assault to
the Police. Ms Brown did not advise the Claimant that she would be initiating
an investigation and did not ask the Claimant if she needed (nor did she offer
to provide) legal advice about the events.

4.9 During the week following the sexual ass -,_,g :"‘

411 Ms Brownf

R

414 On 1 April 2019,’ Senator Reynolds was at Parliament House and met with the
Claimant together with Ms Brown. The meeting took place inside Senator
Reynolds’ office, with the Claimant having to sit near the couch on which she
had been sexually assaulted.

4.15 Senator Reynolds apologised to the Claimant for what had happened to her
and said that she was “shocked and appalled by what had taken place” and it
made her feel “physically ill".
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4.16 Senator Reynolds told the Claimant that she was free to pursue the matter with
the AFP. However, Senator Reynolds did not ask the Claimant if she needed
(nor did she offer to source or pay for) legal assistance or advice about dealing
with the AFP in their investigation or about seeking redress.

4.17 Senator Reynolds did not arrange for any medical, trauma counselling or other
assistance to be provided to the Claimant.

4.18 The meeting of 1 April 2019 was the first and lasftL occasion on which Senator

Reynolds directly spoke to the Claimant about exual assault.

295

4.19

Dok
the se aI assault &

4.20 '~ SUnit informed thé;g‘)lalmant that

4.21
422

ed iu time off work to assnst the AFP in its

‘%,m

4.24 Ms Brown madeﬁ"lear by her words and demeanour that the events of 22/23
March 2019 must be put to one side and that the Claimant needed to remain
silent about the sexual assault, in order to keep her job/career.

4.25 The Claimant was fearful of losing her career and elected to go to Western
Australia to assist with Senator Reynolds’ election campaign. In that context
the Claimant felt she had no choice but to abandon pursuit of the complaint of

sexual assault with the AFP.
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5.6

On 13 April 2019, the Claimant informed the Belconnen AFP Sexual Assault
Crimes Unit that she no longer wished to pursue the complaint of sexual assault
in light of her work demands.

The Claimant went to Western Australia to work on Senator Reynolds’ election
campaign. However, she was directed to work mostly on her own in a hotel
room, 7 days a week for 6 weeks. Her mental health deteriorated.

Senator Reynolds did not engage with the Claimant at all during the election

f" ed Senator Cash’s Chief of Staff, Mr Daniel Try, also
%& , on behalf of the Commonwealth, under the MOPS

2019. Mr Try a;ii:roached the Claimant about talking to Senator Cash about
the sexual assault and he asked the Claimant if she wanted to talk to Senator
Cash or whether he should do so on her behalf. The Claimant indicated to Mr
Try she preferred for him to talk to Senator Cash about the incident. He did not
need any further information from the Claimant to do this.

On 19 October 2019, Mr Try informed the Claimant that Senator Cash’s office
would try to quash the media story.
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5.7 Thereafter, members of Senator Cash’s office including Regina Camera, also
employed by Senator Cash, on behalf of the Commonwealth, under the MOPS
Act, impressed on the Claimant the importance of the Claimant not talking to
anyone about the sexual assault, especially the media. Members of Senator
Cash’s office, including Senator Cash herself on 10 November 2020, began
‘checking in’ on the Claimant but only out of concern that she might speak to

the press.

5.8 While the Claimant remained silent about tr]l *':exual assault, it became
apparent that knowledge of the incident hgg : 'pread well beyond Senator

é el
9\4_ p
entrance*‘éb Parhament House, where Mr

B \;- ht she\ s sexually assaulted. :
ahouther ongéing difficulty in entering
3 ‘m;i:':"‘ %i‘l{-ﬁe‘

nator Cash indicated to.the

Reynolds, the mnner in which she had been treated by Senator Cash, the
embarrassment and humiliation that she felt when confronted by other staff
members about the sexual assault, the flashbacks and anxiety she experienced
when entering the building through the Ministerial entrance and the distress of
being forced to remain silent about the events. The Claimant was told to ‘take
a week’' and the resignation was not ultimately processed until 12 February

2021.
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5.14 On 15 February 2021, Senator Reynolds described the Claimant as a “lying
cow” to parliamentary staff members.

5.15 On 24 February 2022, the Claimant formally renewed her complaint of sexual
assault with the AFP. Mr Lehrmann was charged with sexual assault.

6. CRIMINAL TRIAL

6.1 The criminal trial against Mr Lehrmann for the sqal assault of the Claimant
was ongmally due to commence on 6 June 202 41 Y the ACT Supreme Court. It

6.2 at.
evidence for a number of days ' ted on thef%\[ounds that she was
psychologically unable to continu i

6.3

:‘ngg messages between the

4

64 On 27 October 4&"‘ the criminal trial was aborted by reason of wrongful
conduct by a juror and the jury was discharged. The matter was listed for a
new trial to commence on 20 February 2022.

6.5 On 2 December 2022, the ACT Director of Public Prosecutions announced that
the charges against Mr Lehrmann had been withdrawn because a retrial would
pose an “unacceptable risk” to the Claimant’s health.
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v £ LEAKING CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION AND MEDIA COMMENTS

7.1 On or about 16 March 2022, the lawyers for the Claimant sent the following
documents to Senator Reynolds, on the basis that the documents were
provided on an “without prejudice basis” and were strictly confidential:

7.1.1 draft Particulars of Liability dated March 2022; and

7.1.2 draft Particulars of Damages,
(Confidential Documents).

72 In or about August 2022 the Clalmant an | th

7.3 On 3 and 4 December 2022, artlcles 2 ~
. d WhICh vanouslyd@gosed

;\‘}3/?

'3a moneta
e >

%%féb
t 1D 1
fgg\@:a ocﬁﬁg&ps

her rfi ia articles were published commenting

at'the Claimant was pursuing a monetary

or Reynoldér i memb@g of her staff acting on her instruction, disclosed
ut Prejudlc formatlon to one or more of the journalists who authored

8. UNLAWFUL CONDUCT
8.1  The Claimant identifies the following breaches but reserves her rights to rely on

other breaches arising out of the factual matrix set out above.

9. LIABILITY FOR SEXUAL HARASSMENT

10
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9.1 The sexual assault of the Claimant by Mr Lehrman set out in Part 2 above
constituted sexual harassment and/or harassment on the ground of sex within
the meaning of s 28A and s 28AA respectively of the Sex Discrimination Act
1984 (Cth) (SDA) insofar as it was:

9.1.1 an unwelcome sexual advance to the Claimant; and/or
9.1.2 unwelcome conduct of a sexual nature in relation to the Claimant;

9.1.3 unwelcome conduct of a seriously deme
Claimant by reason of her sex;
in circumstances in which a reasonable«

ping nature in relation to the

pn, having regard to all the

S8
< ’,&.-.-

‘theoss'l ity that the Claimant would

\g\vi"

NS

circumstances, would have antlmpate

t’»fé%a :
gk
B

9.2 s 1 and 2 above w

10.1 The Commonwealth’s vicarious liability for the sexual harassment of the
Claimant by Mr Lehrmann as set out in paragraph 9.4 above constituted direct
discrimination within the meaning of s 5(1) of the SDA in that by reason of the
Claimant being a woman, she was treated less favourably than a man would
have been treated in circumstances that are the same or are not materially
different.

11
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10.2 For these purposes, the circumstances that are the same or are not materially
different include:

10.2.1 being a junior work colleague; and
10.2.2 being heavily and patently intoxicated.

10.3 This amounted to a contravention of s 14(2)(d) of the SDA by subjecting the
Claimant to a detriment, namely sexual assault and sexual harassment.

10.4 Further by reason of the matters set out in Pa ‘A».«_and 3 above, the persons
engaged by the Commonwealth as securi ﬂ ards or cleaners engaged in

is 5(1) of the SDA in that by

unlawful direct discrimination within the m
she was tregted less favourably than a

N ! .q‘?‘.z..' s e
reason of the Claimant being a womanp;
) 5 S,
stances that ‘ﬁi{%the same or are not

materially different. L 4
.. i,
10.5 Further, by reason of the matters ssé”tg;gr p 'j‘;ts 1, 2.4 ai.—-;%@ above, the

§ Cash engagé&%’ in unlawful
ar 4%% of the SDA in that by reason
, sheiwas treate %gss favourably than a man

Z
P Ty

Commonwealth, Senatq’_fg’%. /nolds an

g . A',“ = - h ',
would have bgen:tr : [ances, that é‘}_e the same or are not
5 o ..:{,r_‘_;_. % N 7:: ‘._, xq%%; 2y, N
materially diffe e

b N

10.6 This amoun%ﬁg%a contt
stituted discrimination e,
_ ﬁ@;‘% ditions of:€mployment afforded to the Claimant;

ES
e

C{I%i%ant access, or limiting the Claimant’s access, to

e

. for pro%&ion, transfer or training, or to other benefits

"\’;";‘é

namely by:
10.6.1 failing to conduct a detailed investigation into the sexual assault;

10.6.2 failing to ask the Claimant if she needed (or offering to source) legal
assistance or advice about dealing with the AFP in their investigation
or about seeking redress;

10.6.3 failing to arrange for any medical, trauma counselling or other
assistance for the Claimant;

12
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10.6.4 giving her the ultimatum in paragraphs 4.23 and 4.24 above,

10.6.5 being dismissive of and requiring the Claimant to work despite her
deteriorating mental health;

10.6.6 isolating the Claimant as set out in paragraph 4.27 above;
10.6.7 ostracising the Claimant as set out in paragraph 4.28 above;
10.6.8 requiring that the Claimant transfer to the staff of Senator Cash;

10.6.9 requiring the Claimant to suppress action with the media and

above;

sonfidential and thereby

10.8.16 failing to keep the ol

: through the
“this inducing

(who engaged tﬁsecurity guards) engaged in unlawful direct discrimination
within the meaning of s 5(1) and/or (2) of the DDA in that they:

11.2.1treated the Claimant less favourably than a person without that
disability would have been treated in circumstances that are the
same or are not materially different; and/or

11.2.2 failed to make reasonable adjustments which had the effect that the
Claimant, because of her disability, was treated less favourably than

13
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a person without that disability would have been treated in
circumstances that are not materially different.

11.3 At all material times after the sexual assault, the Claimant suffered from a
disability being the psychological effects associated with the sexual assault,

anxiety, depression and/or PTSD.

11.4 By reason of the matters set out in Parts 1, 4 and 5 above, the Commonwealth,l
Senator Reynolds and Senator Cash engaged in unlawful indirect
discrimination within the meaning of s 6(2) of th; DDA in that:

11.4.1 the conditions or requirements¢ laced on the Claimant included

. €
AR

" ensuring that the Claimant was not isolated as set out in
paragraph 4.27 above and instead provided with collegiality and
. support;

11427 ensuring that the Claimant was not ostracised as set out in
paragraph 4.28 above and instead was fully part of the election
campaign;

14
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11.4.2.8 not directing or requiring the Claimant to suppress
interaction with the media and stay silent about the sexual assault
as set out in paragraph 5.7 above;

11429 ensuring that all aspects of the sexual assault was kept
confidential,

- 11.4.2.10  not requiring the Claimant to enter her workplace through
the Ministerial entrance at Parliament House because it induced
flashbacks; and o,

11.5 This conduct amounted to a contr; tion of s 15 i,&(b) and/or (d) of the

g

12.

12.1 ne afters set out in paragraphs 4.4, 4.13, 5.5and Parts 6 and 7
aimaftmade an allegation that a person, Mr Lehrmann, had done
an act that is unlawful by reason of a provision of Part |l of the SDA.

12.2 On the grounds set out in paragraph 12.1 above, Senator Reynolds and/or
members of Senator Reynolds' staff (including Ms Brown) committed acts of
unlawful victimisation against the Claimant within the meaning of s 47A of the
SDA by subjecting, or threatening to subject, the Claimant to detriments,
namely:

15
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12.2.1 failing to initiate any, or any proper, investigation into the sexual
assault of the Claimant by Mr Lehrmann;

12.2.2failing to offer and/or arrange any medical, trauma or rape
counselling or psychological assistance in respect of the sexual

assault;

12.2.3 failing to offer and/or arrange assistance for the Claimant in relation
to the sexual assault including but not limited to legal assistance for
,%q

sexual assault with the AFE %’h,‘ %3 >

12.2.5 refusmg to provide the | F‘ 2nt with accesgé@the CCTV footage of

12.2.11 disclosing details of the sexual assault to other staff in Parliament
House without the Claimant’s consent;

12.2.12 engaging in the Courtroom Conduct;

12.2.13 disclosing the Without Prejudice Information to the media thereby
bringing further adverse attention to the Claimant and/or humiliating

16
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her and/or ensuring that she was further pursued by the press in
relation to her compensation claim..

12.3 On the ground set out in paragraph 12.1above, Senator Cash and members of
Senator Cash's staff (including Mr Try and Ms Camera) committed acts of
unlawful victimisation against the Claimant within the meaning of s 47A of the
SDA by subjecting, or threatening to subject, the Claimant to a detriment,
namely:

12.3.1failing to offer and/or arrange
counselling or psychologlcal as
assault;

12.4 In addition, the ot monwealth is vicariously liable at common law for the acts
of victimisation set out above in that:

12.4.1each of Senators Reynolds and Cash were agents of the
Commonwealth and had ostensible authority to engage in the acts
outlined in those paragraphs;

12.4.2the members of staff of each of Senators Reynolds and Cash
(including Ms Brown, Mr Try, and Ms Camera) were employees of

17
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the Commonwealth and engaged in the acts outlined in those
paragraphs in the course of their employment.

13. LOSS AND DAMAGE SUFFERED BECAUSE OF THE UNLAWFUL
DISCRIMINATORY CONDUCT OF THE RESPONDENTS

13.1 Sexual assault and associated physical injuries;
13.2 Being the subject of adverse media commenta

13.3 Being the subject of adverse on-line commentary including on the Liberal Party
Facebook page and other online ‘trolling’;

18
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